
 
 

Regular Meeting 
Monday, March 2, 2015 

Chowan County Public Safety Center 
305 West Freemason St. 

Edenton, NC 
6:00pm 

 
Minutes 

 
Present Chairman Jeff Smith Commissioners Keith Nixon, Alex Kehayes, Ellis Lawrence (came 
in later), John Mitchener, Emmett Winborne and Greg Bonner.  
 
Staff present County Manager Kevin Howard, Finance Officer Willie Carawan and Board Clerk 
Susanne Stallings. 
 
County Attorney John Morrison was also present. 

 
Regular Meeting 
Chairman Smith called the regular meeting to order and led all in attendance in the pledge of 
allegiance. Commissioner Kehayes then offered the invocation. 
 
Approval of Agenda 
Commissioner Kehayes moved to approve the agenda. Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the 
motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
Public Comment 
Chairman Smith opened the floor to public comment in accordance with NCGS 153A-52.1.  
 
Brian O’Hara, 8224 Morgan’s Way Raleigh, NC stated he was president of the South East Wind 
Coalition.  He stated that the coalition provides impartial information on wind energy. He offered 
his assistance in reviewing the wind energy ordinance for Chowan County. He stated that after 
review of the wind energy ordinance for Chowan, and comparison with Perquimans, Pasquotank, 
Washington and Tyrrell Counties, he has found the ordinance is consistent with Pasquotank 
County and Perquimans and similar to Tyrrell County’s ordinance. He stated he found the 
ordinance to be well written. He stated he did not find the ordinance to be aggressive in attracting 
or in prohibiting wind energy projects and felt the ordinance provided a balanced approach. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence joined the meeting. 
 
Gene Jordan 414 Sign Pine Road Tyner stated he is interested in the wind project and feels that a 
windfarm would provide him as a land owner in the proposed development area, with stable 
income. He stated that as a member of the Board of Education he is seeing growing needs in the 
school system and feels that the development would provide the County with additional tax 
revenues that could benefit the schools and other economic development projects. 
 
Frank Miglorie 1222 Soundshore Drive stated his concern with a proposed discussion on 
changing the wind energy ordinance.  He stated that as the Economic Developer, he has been 
aware of Apex Energy’s interest in developing in Chowan County. He stated he is concerned 



with a moratorium to slow the proposed project. He stated that when a client comes to his office 
with a proposed project, the Economic Development office provides the client with information 
on the ordinances and County expectations. He stated the client begins the process in good faith. 
He stated amending the ordinance caused him concern and stated he felt it could be perceived 
that the County is changing the rules in the middle of the game. He stated this may be unintended 
consequences. He stated his could impact the perception of the County to future clients. He 
stated he felt the County should not change the ordinance now. 
 
Mike Hamilton, stated he was speaking as the Chief of Centerhill Crossroads Fire Department 
and the proposed windmill site was in his coverage district. He stated he traveled to Delaware to 
view a proposed windfarm and looked into the design of the windmill. He stated that fire has 
been stated as being a concern of some people. He said that after viewing the site, the windmills 
have a self-contained fire suppression system. He stated he did not see any threat to safety with 
regards to fire. He stated that as a citizen of Chowan County he supports a proposed windmill 
project in the County and sees the project as a source for additional revenues for the County 
services. He asked the Commissioners to support the current wind ordinance. 
 
Alissa Cale 537 Sumuby Road Roper, NC, stated she is a property owner in Chowan County. 
She stated she currently works for Weyerhaeuser. She stated she has visited windfarms and is 
convinced that there are no health effects.  She stated that Weyerhaeuser promotes responsible 
timber management and feels that the project would allow the responsible timber management to 
continue. She stated that she has thoroughly studied windmill project and feels the project is 
sustainable with low impact and noise. She stated that Weyerhaeuser will lease land to the 
developer. She noted that the State of North Carolina has very strict statutes that require many 
state and federal reviews and she is confident the project will be safe and clean. 
 
Win Dale, 102 Emperor Landing Road Edenton stated that he attended a previous planning board 
meeting and was not allowed to speak on a proposed moratorium. He stated the current wind 
energy ordinance was last updated December 2013 and he felt that any further strengthening to 
the ordinance, he felt is unnecessary and unreasonable. He stated that changing the ordinance 
would send a negative message to prospective developers looking at Chowan County. He stated 
that Economic Development is needed in the County. He urged the Board to leave the ordinance 
as is. 
 
Don Gieck of Charlottesville Virginia stated that he was representing Apex. He stated the wind 
ordinance was unanimously approved by a majority of the Planning Board and the Board of 
Commissioners in December of 2013. He stated that Apex has evaluated Chowan County and 
felt Chowan was interested in their investment. He stated that Apex has already spent several 
hundred thousand dollars in Chowan County. He stated the project requires local, state and 
federal review through the permitting process. He stated that the wind project could not happen 
until all reviews are completed and permitted. He noted the Conditional Use Permit process 
(local review) allows the developer significant time to improve on any concerns or conditions. 
He stated that further study or hearings on the ordinance would create an unnecessary investment 
risk on the project. 
 
Bobby Winborne 3506 Rocky Hock Road stated that he serves on the Planning Board. He stated 
that three days before the last planning board meeting he was notified that a moratorium would 
be discussed on the agenda. He stated that the Planning Board had not to that date, discussed a 
moratorium or further review of the wind ordinance. He stated that a meeting between the 
County Manager, Planner, County Attorney and the Chair and Vice Chair of the Planning Board 



occurred and at the time they were advised by the attorney that a moratorium was not 
appropriate. He stated the agenda however remained the same as advertised. He stated the night 
that the Planning Board met, the Chairman announced that the Chair of the Planning Board 
announced to the public in attendance that the moratorium would not be discussed. He stated his 
concern with the Planning Board making recommendations at that meeting to review the wind 
ordinance. He stated that he felt it was inappropriate for Planning Board members to take on this 
project without a recommendation from the Board of Commissioners.  He stated that if Planning 
Board members wished to change the ordinance without consent of the Board of Commissioners, 
it could cause a black eye to the County. 
 
Carroll Perry, 309 Cannons Ferry Tyner, NC stated that he has been a lifetime resident of 
Chowan County. He stated he felt economic development needs to be promoted in Chowan 
County. He stated he has seen wind turbines in his travels around the Country and he felt the 
proposed project in the Bear Swamp area was a perfect fit for the County. He stated that the 
project should be reviewed at the appropriate time by the Board of Commissioners. He stated he 
felt it would be a tragedy to Chowan County if the project were only built out in Perquimans 
County because of lost revenue. 
 
Richard Bunch 954 Sandy Ridge Road Tyner, NC stated that he is a lifelong resident of Chowan 
County. He stated he has spent his 30 year career in Economic Development. He stated in 
November/December of 2013 his office was notified of a potential $300 million investment in 
this area (Chowan and Perquimans Counties). He stated that job creation was noted as one of the 
good things about the project. He stated that recently he became unemployed and was offered 
employment through Apex Clean Energy. He stated the ordinance will protect his home. He 
stated he lives closest to the project than many people in the room. He stated he has visited 
turbines like the proposed and stated he felt wind energy was a good investment. He asked the 
Board to insist that that Planning Board follow the leadership of the current wind ordinance and 
give Apex the opportunity to apply for the Conditional use Permit. 
 
Chairman Smith called for further public comment, there was none. 
 
Chairman Smith noted that if any of the public speakers wished to provide their written 
statements that were read during public comment, to submit them to the clerk. (Any written 
statements provided will be held in the meeting file labeled March 2, 2015.) 
 
Consent Agenda 

Chairman Smith then presented the consent agenda. 
 

a. Minutes 
Attached are the minutes of the February 2, 2015 and February 18, 2015 meetings for the 
Board’s review and consideration.  
 
Commissioner Mitchener moved to approve the minutes as submitted. Chairman Smith 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously. 
 

b. Budget Amendments 
 
Finance Officer, Willie Carawan provided information on the budget amendments. He noted that 
he would recommend the Board consider holding off on BA 1415-031. 
 



Commissioner Nixon moved to withdraw BA1415-031 from the consent agenda. Chairman 
Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 

BA1415-029 (TDA) FYI Only 

 
BA1415-030 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Description Old + or (-) New

Fund Balance (8,042.00)        (20,813.90)      (28,855.90)      
Advertising - Periodicals 17,000.00       18,379.06       35,379.06       
GL Match - Earned Media -                 1,220.72         1,220.72         
GL Match - New Market Dev. -                 1,214.12         1,214.12         

Balanced: 8,958.00         -                  8,958.00         

Justification:

26,371.50$        Administration  $             49,125.44 - Dept 8150
2,470.50$          Digital Dev & Prom (2,434.84)$              - Dept 8158

(1,465.99)$         Earned Media Dev 46,690.60$             - SUBTOTAL
36,967.41$        Periodicals 20,813.90$             - BA# 1415-029 TDA

(833.72)$            New Market Dev 67,504.50$          
1,797.24$          Co-Op
2,197.56$          Co-Op Local Partners

67,504.50$      

51-8158-199-04

Budgeting FY'14 remaining local match for GoldenLeaf Grant

Account Code

51-3990-990-00
51-8150-370-00
51-8158-199-02

Description Old + or (-) New
Social Service Admin (1,467,002.00) (5,000.00)        (1,472,002.00) 
Low Income Energy Assistance 113,251.00     5,000.00         118,251.00     

Balanced: (1,353,751.00) -                  (1,353,751.00) 

Justification:

Budgeting additional LIEAP appropriation

Account Code
12-3531-230-01
12-5380-539-21



 
BA1415-031 REMOVED BY A UNANIMOUS VOTE 
 

 
 
 
 
 
BA1415-032 

 
 

Commissioner Winborne asked for clarification on BA 1415-032. 
 

Description Old + or (-) New

Fund Balance Appropriation (1,192,950.18) (18,500.00)      (1,211,450.18) 
Transfer to EMS Fund 503,470.00     18,500.00       521,970.00     
Transfer from General Fund (503,470.00)    (18,500.00)      (521,970.00)    
Salaries & Wages - PT 82,500.00       18,500.00       101,000.00     

Balanced: (1,110,450.18) -                  (1,110,450.18) 

Justification:

Per the Board's 2/2/15 request, budgeting additional monies needed for EMS to 
cover one of the Volunteers shifts.

Account Code

11-3990-990-00

60-3980-980-11
11-9800-980-60

60-4370-126-00

Description Old + or (-) New

Salaries & Wages - OT / Hol 45,000.00       15,000.00       60,000.00       
Salaries & Wages - PT 75,000.00       (5,000.00)        70,000.00       
Automotive Supplies 90,000.00       (10,000.00)      80,000.00       
Maint & Repair - Vehicles 35,000.00       1,900.00         36,900.00       
Capital Outlay - Vehicles 52,084.00       (1,900.00)        50,184.00       

Salaries & Wages - OT 34,000.00       11,000.00       45,000.00       
Salaries & Wages - PT 15,000.00       2,000.00         17,000.00       
Salaries & Wages - Regular 278,592.00     (10,000.00)      268,592.00     
Hospitalization 58,292.00       (3,000.00)        55,292.00       

LEPC - HAZ MAT Planning Grant (10,000.00)      3,400.00         (6,600.00)        
LEPC - HAZ MAT Planning Grant 10,000.00       (3,400.00)        6,600.00         

Balanced: 682,968.00     -                  682,968.00     

Justification:

11-4270-121-00

11-4310-353-00
11-4310-550-00

11-4270-183-00

CENTRAL COMMUNICATIONS

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT
11-3433-391-00

Sheriff's Office is requesting transfer to cover Overtime & Part-time within his 
departments.  Reducing EM Grant amount to match actual Award.

Account Code

11-4310-122-00
SHERIFF'S OFFICE

11-4310-126-00

11-4330-610-00

11-4310-251-00

11-4270-122-00
11-4270-126-00



Deputy Bunch stated this was due to additional security coverage for school events. He noted the 
budget is not being increased but being located within his current budget. He noted the budget 
amendment also addressed the vacant positions in 911 Communications.  
 
Commissioner Bonner moved to approve BA1415-029, 030 and 032. Chairman Smith asked for 
all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
College of the Albemarle – Capital Improvement Projects 
Joseph Turner with the College of the Albemarle presented COA’s Capital Improvement Request 
for 2014-15. He stated that he was requesting $10,000 to create a biology lab. He noted that the 
college has obtained $15,000 for the furniture needed, he stated the $10,000 would pay for 
electrical and plumbing. He stated the college was requesting window replacement in Building 
#3 at a cost of $105,000. He stated this would result in energy savings and off-set the cost of the 
part-time maintenance personnel. He noted that COA is also requesting dropdown ceilings and 
lights in buildings 3 and 4 at a cost of $7,000 per room ($21,000 total).  He stated that he is 
requesting monies to renovate bathrooms in building #3 at a cost of $20,000 for two bathrooms.  
He stated that the College also requests monies for a security system upgrade which would add 
additional cameras to provide 100% camera coverage on the campus. The cost for this is 
$12,655.  He stated that the College would also like to request funding to hire a design firm to 
create a concept drawing for renovations to the culinary arts building for classroom kitchen 
layout and dining. He noted the total cost of that project is $15,000. 
 
Mr. Turner noted projects already included in the operational budget part time maintenance 
$15,316 annually, hot water heaters in CAN lab $750, sinks in culinary lab $1,000, HVAC Duct 
work $1,000 and he noted that the underground fuel tank has been removed at a cost of $38,000. 
 
Mr. Turner noted his priority request was the classroom renovation for the biology lab at 
$10,000.  
 
Commissioner Mitchener asked for clarification on the nursing program located in Elizabeth 
City. 
 
Mr. Turner stated that the science classes of the program could be taught in Chowan County. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked what the fund balance was for COA Capital Projects. 
 
Mr. Carawan stated they have approximately $369,000. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked if the window replacement was bid. 
 
Mr. Turner stated yes and the company in Windsor was the low bid. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked if the windows would be white. He stated he would like for the 
windows to match building 2. He stated he would like for the windows to be white. 
 
Mr. Turner stated that could be done. 
 
Commissioner Nixon moved to approve the request for $10,000 for the Biology Lab renovation, 
$105,000 for window replacement in building #3 and bathroom renovation in building #3 at a 
cost of $20,000.   



 
Commissioner Winborne stated the motion would leave approximately $235,000 in the COA 
Capital Fund Balance. He asked if security has decreased any on-campus crime. 
 
Mr. Turner stated that the plan is to provide the campus with 100% coverage. He noted that the 
college was able to purchase 6 cameras for the price of 4 with the previous year appropriation. 
He stated that 4 more cameras would provide the 100% coverage. 
 
Commissioner Bonner stated he felt the camera security and completion of the security project 
was a priority to him. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated that COA was able to locate the security camera monies in their 
current expense budget last fiscal year. 
 
Commissioner Bonner stated that public safety on the campus was a priority to him and sated he 
hoped the Board did all they could for COA. 
 
Chairman Smith asked for all in favor of the motion. The motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Appointment  
Chairman Smith stated that the Board will consider recommendations from the 
interview/selection committee for 
 
TDA Board 
Commissioner Nixon noted the following persons were recommended for nomination to the 
TDA Board. He moved to nominate Seat 1 Collections, Katrina Barnes and Seat 3 Collections 
Susan Beckwith. 
 
Chairman Smith asked if there were any further nominations, there were none. Chairman Smith 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously. (7-0). 
 
Commissioner Nixon moved to approve the following committee nominations, Seat 4 Promotion 
Ben Speller, Seat 5 Promotion Teresa Thesier and Seat 8 Promotion Frank Jones. 
 
Chairman Smith asked if there were any further nominations, there were none. Chairman Smith 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously. (7-0). 
 
Planning Board 

 
Commissioner Winborne stated that the committee met and reviewed applications. He stated that 
6 applications were reviewed. He stated that two candidates were selected for interviews and one 
of the candidates was not able to show up for the interview. He stated that the committee did 
interview Marvin Hare and has recommended him for appointment to the Planning Board. He 
stated that Mr. Hare previously worked for Domtar, but the committee felt after questions about 
his previous employment with Domtar did not find any conflict. He stated that Mr. Hare is active 
in the community and felt that he gave great responses to the committee questions. 
 
Commissioner Bonner noted that he was on the interview/selection committee and highly 
recommends Mr. Hare. 
 



Commissioner Kehayes stated he would like to nominate George Little. He stated that Mr. Little 
is a member of the community and is also active. He stated that he chooses to nominate Mr. 
Little because if the Board selects candidates to represent each of the voting districts, there 
would be 2 members that represent district 2, one member from district 3 and 3 members from 
district 1. 
The interview has selected two candidates for interviews on Monday, a recommendation for 
appointment will be made at the meeting. He stated that residents of Edenton pay County taxes 
and should be represented. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence agreed with Commissioner Kehayes. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated he would like to nominate tom McClaren. He stated that the 
nominee from the committee did not get many votes the last time the appointees were 
considered. He stated that based on the map of appointed Planning Board members, the 
Macedonia Community is not represented. He stated that 4 members of the Board of 
Commissioners are residents of the Town of Edenton and the Town of Edenton only has 1 
member from the County on their Board because of the Town’s extra territorial jurisdiction. He 
asked the county attorney if the zoning laws within the Town trump the zoning laws of the 
County. 
 
Mr. Morrison stated that the Town has its own zoning laws apart from the County’s zoning 
regulations. 
 
Commissioner Bonner stated that the Board decided to appoint a committee to make a 
recommendation. He stated that he felt it was senseless to not consider the recommendation of 
the Committee. He noted he did not ask to be appointed to the nominating committee. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated that he appreciated the time and work that the members of the 
committee put in and stated that he is elected by the people to make the decisions that he feels 
are best. 
 
Chairman Smith stated that the appointee must receive a majority vote of the Board. He noted 
that previously the Board had three candidates to consider and none of the candidates received a 
majority vote (4 votes). He recommended that the Board vote on the three nominees and vote. He 
stated that if any of the nominees ties, he would recommend that the Board vote on the tied 
members first to break the tie, and then vote on the two candidates who have the most votes. He 
asked if there was a consensus of the Board to determine the nominee. 
 
All of the Board members agreed by consensus. 
 
Chairman Smith asked for all in favor of the nomination of Marvin Hare, the Board voted (3-4 
Nixon, Kehayes, Mitchener and Lawrence) 
 
Chairman Smith asked for all in favor of the nomination of George Little, the Board voted (3-4 
Winborne, Bonner, Smith and Nixon) 
 
Chairman Smith asked for all in favor of the nomination of Tom McClaren, the Board voted (1-6 
Kehayes, Smith, Bonner, Kehayes, Mitchener and Lawrence) 
 



Chairman Smith explained that the vote would remove Mr. McClaren from consideration since 
he received the least amount of votes. He stated that the appointee would be the candidate to 
receive a majority of votes (4 votes) and those two candidates to consider were Mr. Hare and Mr. 
Little. 
 
Chairman Smith asked for all in favor of the nomination of Marvin Hare, the motion passed (4-3 
Kehayes, Mitchener and Lawrence). 
 
Chairman Smith noted that based on the agreed upon procedure to select a candidate, Mr. Marvin 
Hare would be appointed to the Planning Board as he was the first to receive a majority vote. 

 
Airport Commission 
Chairman Smith noted that the Board of Commissioners has one County resident vacancy on the 
Board. Attached are applications received to date. He noted the vacancy has been advertised 
since December 2014 and this Commission does not require the interview process. 
 
Commissioner Nixon sated that Marge Soper indicated to airport officials she is no longer 
interested in appointment. 
 
Commissioner Winborne nominated Carey Parrish. Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the 
motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Planning Board Report 
Lou Sarratt, Chairman of the Chowan County Planning Board stated that Article 2 of the 
Chowan County Zoning Ordinance stated that the Chowan County Planning Board is established 
pursuant to NCGS 153A-321, an appointed, advisory body, the Planning Board makes 
recommendations to the Board of County Commissioners. He stated that the Ordinance defines 
the duties of the Planning Board and one of these duties state the Planning Board may initiate 
studies to identify and analyze land use issues of importance to Chowan County. He stated that a 
year ago the Planning Board took action regarding the county wind ordinance and the Board of 
Commissioners later approved a text amendment to the zoning ordinance. He stated that this 
change was requested and presented by Apex. He stated the vote from the planning Board was 
not unanimous. He stated he felt that as a Planning Board member, he feels he should do his due 
diligence with regards to reviewing the wind ordinance. He stated he was not satisfied that the 
ordinance addresses long term economic or lack of economic benefit. He stated that he feels the 
Planning Board should do its due diligence. He stated the Planning Board approved the 2013 text 
amendment with a lack of guidance and he feels now it is important to review the ordinance to 
ensure that it is comprehensive. He stated he did not feel that the text amendment was adequately 
advertised and that the Planning Board did not have a public hearing for the text amendment. 
 
Chairman Smith noted that when the ordinance was heard by the Commissioners a public 
hearing was advertised and held. 
 
Commissioner Winborne asked if there were any procedural concerns with the hearing of the text 
amendment in 2013. 
 
Ms. Stallings stated that the public hearing was advertised according to the law. She noted later 
in the discussion that the County Zoning Ordinance does not require a public hearing for a text 
amendment at the Planning Board level. She stated the public hearing is required for the Board 



of Commissioners meeting and that meeting was duly advertised for the public hearing, which 
was held as required. 
 
Commissioner Winborne asked Mr. Sarratt what his concerns were with the current ordinance. 
 
Mr. Sarratt stated he had concerns with noise and clearance requirements. 
 
County Attorney John Morrison noted that according to staff, the meeting was noticed in 
accordance with the zoning ordinance. Mr. Morrison noted that the zoning ordinance does give 
the Planning Board the authority to initiate studies at their discretion and prepare a 
recommendation to the Board of Commissioners. He stated that the Board of Commissioners is 
under no obligation to accept a recommendation from the Planning Board. He stated the final 
decision with regards to text amendments is at the discretion of the Board of Commissioners. He 
noted that the ordinance defines the final obligation of the Planning Board was to carry out duties 
as assigned by the Board of Commissioners. 
 
Commissioner Bonner asked if the Board of Commissioners could set a time limit on developing 
a recommendation for modifying the ordinance. 
 
Mr. Morrison stated yes. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes stated his concern with the public comment regarding the wind 
ordinance. He stated he felt that the comments were threatening to the Board that if the Board 
chose to amend the wind ordinance, they would not develop in Chowan County. He stated he has 
concerns that will need to be answered regarding possible health effects of wind farms. He stated 
that 6 of the 10 speakers will benefit financially from the proposed project. He stated that his 
concern was for the citizen’s health, property values, and that very few people would benefit 
from a wind farm project. He stated the impact of property values has not been discussed. He 
stated he felt it was his duty as a Commissioner to encourage economic growth but the felt that 
issues with property values and health should be addressed first. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked if the Planning Board does pursue amending the Ordinance that each 
department head is required to stay within their own budget. 
 
Mr. Morrison stated the Planning Board is given authority under the ordinance to initiate studies. 
He stated the Board also sets the budget for Planning and this is how the Board prioritizes the use 
of its resources and the Planning Board would have to operate within the constraints of its 
budget. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated that he feels the Board of Commissioners also has a duty to do its 
due diligence. He stated the applicant (Apex) paid the fee for the text amendment and held their 
public hearing before both Boards (Planning and Commissioners). He stated that he did a great 
amount of homework when the application for the text amendment came before the Board of 
Commissioners in 2013. He stated he called other states for information.  He stated that he was 
satisfied in 2013 when he asked and was told that an application for a Conditional Use Permit 
(CUP) for a windmill farm project would come back to the Board of Commissioners for final 
approval. He noted that the Planning Board only had one dissenting vote. He noted the Board of 
Commissioners voted unanimously in 2013 for the text amendment. He stated he has concerns 
over potential litigation if the County changes the rules for Apex this late in the process. 
 



Mr. Morrison explained the legalities of “common law vesting”. He noted that when an 
individual commences on a project based on the laws as written and spends time and money 
doing so, and in good faith requests approval from the government, if the government changes 
the rules in the middle of the “game”, there is potential for liability on the government. He stated 
he did not have an opinion regarding Chowan County’s liability for this matter. He explained to 
the Board the criteria that is considered during the conditional use permit process. He stated that 
the Board could impose obligations on a developer during the Conditional Use Permit process. 
He noted that Board is also under the authority to refuse a Conditional Use Permit if they find 
that the application demolishes property values or poses a health risk. He noted that currently 
there is no application on file for the conditional use permit. He noted that the Conditional Use 
Permit process is considered a legal process where the Board will sit as judges to hear the 
application. He stated the Board is not allowed to vote on popularity of a project as that is 
irrelevant. He stated that the Board will have the opportunity to address concerns over health and 
property values at the Conditional Use Permit application time. 
 
Mr. Landin Holland noted that the Board will hear evidence based on expert testimony only at 
the Conditional Use Permit Application time. 
 
Mr. Morrison explained how the Board would determine what competent evidence is and noted 
that each side is expected to provide its own expert testimony or evidence. 
 
Commissioner Mitchener stated that visited windmills in Delaware and was not provided with 
evidence of negative health effects. 
 
Chairman Smith stated these matters would have to be discussed during the Conditional Use 
Permit process. 
 
Mr. Morrison stated it was important for the Board to understand that they were to not form any 
opinion regarding the proposed application prior to the hearing. 
 
Chairman Smith asked Mr. Sarratt if he was requesting permission from the Board of 
Commissioners or was he just telling the Board what he planned to do. 
 
Mr. Sarratt stated he was not asking the Board but only sharing that he planned to research 
further. He stated this would be his own research done on his own time. He stated he would like 
to do this in an expedient manner. He stated he would accept any financial or time constraints. 
He added that he would provide the Planning Board with any information from the Board of 
Commissioners. 
 
Chairman Smith stated that he is a landowner in the proposed area for the project. He stated that 
he does not have any contract on his property with Apex at this time. He stated his family has not 
made a decision regarding entering into a contract with Apex. He stated that he has disclosed this 
information to the Board and requested to be recused from any discussions on the Conditional 
Use Permit application and he will not vote on the matter. He stated that he feels he can however, 
vote on text amendments that are not specific to the project. He stated that he feels the current 
zoning ordinance is adequate. He stated that experts on the matter have indicated that the 
ordinance is adequate and he feels that reviewing other matters is putting the cart before the 
horse with regards to future applications. He stated that a windfarm project will have 7 to 8 
public hearings from Raleigh to Edenton regarding a potential project in Chowan County and 
Health and Safety will be criteria that is considered. He stated that he felt the boards needed to 



allow the full process to play out and when the Conditional Use Permit is brought to the Board 
then these matters of health and safety can be addressed by experts. He noted that the Planning 
Board sent the text amendment to the Board of Commissioners prior to the December 2013 
meeting and the Board of Commissioners sent it back to the Planning Board for further review 
before the final draft voted on in December of 2013. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated he would like the County Attorney to attend the next Planning Board 
meeting and asked that the Planning Board vote as a unit on how they wish to proceed to make 
sure a majority of the Planning Board supports this effort. 
 
Mr. Morrison stated he could advise the Planning Board on parliamentary procedure but would 
not be able to advise them on their decision. 
 
Mr. Holland noted the minutes of the last Planning Board meeting show a conversation on how 
to approach the Commissioners and the Planning Board did vote to revisit the ordinance. 
 
Commissioner Winborne stated he attended the last Planning Board meeting. He stated that he 
was told the meeting would be about a proposed moratorium. He stated that the public came to 
the meeting and was told that the moratorium would not be discussed. He stated that the 
Planning Board did not amend or approve the agenda. He stated he felt embarrassed when a 
representative from Apex came to speak and a member of the Planning Board raised concern 
with them speaking because they were not residents of the County. He stated he felt the actions 
of this Planning Board member was rude to the people in attendance and did not follow 
parliamentary procedure. 
 
Chairman Smith requested that Mr. Winborne’s comments stay on the topic. 
 
Commissioner Winborne stated he did not feel the Planning Board should review this Ordinance. 
He stated that there are other pressing matters that need to be addressed and he felt it would be a 
waste of time and taxpayer money. 
 
Mr. Holland stated the basis for the agenda change was based on legal counsel recommendation. 
 
Mr. Morrison stated he has suggested that the Planning Board look at adopting rules of 
parliamentary procedure and has advised them of the suggested rules from the School of 
Government. 
 
Commissioner Winborne stated he would request the resignation of the Planning Board member 
whom he spoke of earlier because he felt that his actions did not represent the County. 
 
Mr. Morrison stated the Board could request that the ordinance amendment be based on expert 
testimony. 
 
Chairman Smith stated that the Board of Commissioners could request that the Planning Board 
not review the ordinance, but based on the current zoning ordinance they do have the authority to 
review it. 
 
Commissioner Bonner asked if this would be handled by Mr. Sarratt. 
 



Mr. Sarratt said yes and he would be willing to investigate health concerns and obtain an expert 
opinion. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated his concern with the amount of information for or against the 
windmill project that has been forwarded from the public and the planning board. 
 
Mr. Morrison stated that it is important for both boards to not become prejudice on any 
application. 
 
Chairman Smith stated he would highly recommend that the Planning Board not look into an 
ordinance revision and allow the process to come down to the Conditional Use Permit 
application. He stated that if the Planning Board is going to look at the ordinance that they notify 
the commissioners on what they plan to look at within the next week and provide expert 
testimony (both sides) within the next week. 
 
Chairman Smith passed the gavel to Vice Chairman Kehayes. 
 
Chairman Smith moved to direct the Planning Board to provide the Board of Commissioners 
with a full recommended text amendment, based on expert testimony (on both sides) to be given 
to the Board of Commissioners within 30 days. 
 
Vice Chairman Kehayes stated he did not feel the time constraint was reasonable. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated he felt the Planning Board has had one year to address this matter. 
 
Vice Chairman Kehayes asked for all in favor, the motion passed (6-1 Kehayes). 
 
Mr. Morrison asked if the Board of Commissioners wanted to assign him to the next Planning 
Board meeting. The Board by consensus stated yes. 
 
Updated information on Railroad Spur 
Ms. Stallings stated that the Board was informed in October of 2014 that Norfolk Southern 
Railroad was not interested in the sale of property adjacent to the Public Safety Building to the 
County. She said that after further investigations, staff has been informed that NSRR does allow 
for commercial lease of property for parking. She asked the Board to consider a request to 
complete the parking lot lease application and submit to NSRR and added the application fee is 
$500. She added that the application to purchase was also $500 but NSRR did not cash the 
check. 
 
Chairman Smith asked about the application. 
 
Ms. Stallings explained that NSRR will forward the appropriate lease application to the County. 
 
Commissioner Winborne stated he felt this would be a good opportunity. He moved to approve 
submittal of the application. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked that the lease be long term. 
 
Mr. Howard stated staff will know NSRR’s parameters once they respond to the application. 
 



Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Animal Control Truck 
County Manager Kevin Howard presented the Board with information on the purchase of a 
replacement truck for Animal Control. He stated the contract price is $21,731. He stated that the 
cost after the insurance proceeds from the accident and the monies from the sale of the wrecked 
vehicle will leave a cost of $10,816.87 to the County. He stated he would recommend looking 
into the Land Transfer/Capital Outlay for monies to purchase the truck. He stated there are no 
monies in the Animal Control budget. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked if 4 wheel drive is needed. 
 
Mr. Howard stated this would provide the County with another 4-wheel drive vehicle if needed. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated the sheriff vehicle was purchased with that capital money and stated 
his concern with use of these funds for vehicle purchases. He asked if the monies could be found 
in the current budget. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that at this time in the fiscal year, it is hard to locate $10,000 in the general 
fund. He noted that he has held off on replacing the vehicle for four months. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated that it was difficult to follow the use of capital monies when they are 
moved into general fund departmental budgets. 
 
Chairman Smith stated that he felt the situation was unique because the vehicle was wrecked and 
it was not the fault of the department head. 
 
Commissioner Bonner moved to appropriate the monies as recommended by staff. He added that 
he felt the purchase was necessary to continue Animal Control services. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated he would like to note for the Board that this is the 5th time this fiscal 
year that monies are being drawn down from fund balance. 
 
Commissioner Winborne stated his concern with use of the fund balance. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that there may be monies available at the end of the fiscal year, but in March 
the monies are difficult to locate.  
 
Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed (4-3 Smith, Nixon and Winborne). 
 
Recreation Master Plan 
Shannon Ray provided the Board with bids and her recommendation for the consultant to assist 
with the re-write of the Recreation Master Plan. She stated she would recommend Holland 
Consulting as their bid was the only bid within the budget for the grant. 
 
Commissioner Nixon recommended that the Board go into closed session to negotiate the 
contract. 
 
The Board agreed by consensus to discuss this in closed session. 
 



External Board/Committee Report 
Chairman Smith stated the Board members are asked to report on the activities of the external 
boards to which they have been appointed. 
 
Commissioner Mitchener stated he would provide the Board with a report from the Town 
Council. 
 
Commissioner Nixon provided a report on the Health Department Board. 
 
Manager’s Report 
County Manager Kevin Howard stated the Board has received a packet from the NCACC 
Meetings with Legislators. 
 
Timely and Important Matters  
 
Change of Meeting Schedule 
Commissioner Lawrence stated his work schedule has changed, and that it would prohibit him 
from making the 5:30pm second meeting of the month. 
 
Chairman Smith recommended that the second meeting be changed to 6:00pm. 
 
Commissioner Nixon moved to amend the meeting schedule to have both meetings at 6:00pm. 
Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Generator 
Commissioner Winborne stated he would be bringing forward a proposal to transfer a generator 
from the County to Unit 3 at a later meeting. 
 
Closed Session 
Commissioner Mitchener moved that the Board go into closed session, in accordance with 
NCGS 143-318 (11) (a) (3, 5, 6), attorney client privilege, contract negotiations and personnel. 
Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
The minutes of the closed session are sealed. 
 
Commissioner Nixon moved to come out of closed session, Chairman Smith asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Recreation Master Plan (continued) 
Commissioner Nixon moved to approve the recommendation to utilize Holland Consulting 
Planners as recommended by Recreation staff. Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the motion 
passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
Adjourn 
 
Being no further business, Commissioner Kehayes moved to adjourn the meeting. Chairman 
Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________________  ______________________________ 

Jeffery Smith, Chairman     Susanne Stallings, Clerk 

 

 


